PROTOTROPIC TAUTOMERISM OF HETEROAROMATIC COMPOUNDS

Alan R. Katritzky, Mati Karelson, and Philip A. Harris Department of Chemistry, University of Florida, Gainesville, Fl 32611-2046, USA.

<u>Abstract</u>- This review deals mainly with the prototropic side chain tautomerism of heteroaromatic compounds. Particular reference is made to molecular orbital calculations of equilibrium constants.

CONTENTS

- 1. Classification and Importance
 - 1.1 Definitions
 - 1.2 Types of Tautomerism
 - 1.3 Tautomerism in Heterocyclic Chemistry
 - 1.4 Importance in Chemistry
 - 1.5 Biological Importance of Tautomerism
- 2. Methods for the Study of Aromatic Tautomerism
 - 2.1 Chemical Methods
 - 2.2 Physical Methods
 - 2.3 In Solution
 - 2.4 In Gas Phase and Inert Gas Matrices
 - 2.5 MO Calculations
- 3. Tautomeric Equilibria of Pyridines
 - 3.1 Structural and Environmental Effects
 - 3.2 Effect of Substituents
 - 3.3 Effect of Environment
- 4. Other Six-Membered Rings
 - 4.1 Pyridine N-Oxides
 - 4.2 Tautomeric Diazines
 - 4.3 Tautomerism of the Nucleic Acid Bases
- 5. Five-Membered Rings
 - 5.1 With one Heteroatom
 - 5.2 Tautomerism in the Azoles
 - 5.3 Rationalization of Azole Tautomerism
 - 5.4 Apparent Exceptions
- 6. Summary and Conclusions
- 7. References

1. Classification and Importance

1.1 Definitions

Tautomerism is defined as a phenomenon in which two or more molecular structures exist in dynamic equilibrium with each other, i.e. the energy barrier between them is small. There is no hard and fast dividing line between tautomerism and isomerism, but in general, tautomers readily interconvert whereas isomers interconvert much less easily. For example, the two forms of a carboxylic acid are definitely in tautomeric equilibrium, whereas 1-butene and the 2-butenes are considered as isomers since they are easily separable - see Scheme 1. However, there are some borderline cases. For example, because the two butyrolactones can be isolated but are readily convertible, they can be considered both as tautomers and as isomers.



On the other hand, the distinction between tautomerism and mesomerism is usually much better defined. Two tautomers are individual compounds separated by an energy barrier. By contrast, a single compound exhibiting mesomerism exists at an energy minimum between two or more canonical forms which contribute to the actual structure. However, even here some cases near the dividing line do exist. For example, the end of propionylacetone is hydrogen-bonded and there is only a small energy gap between it and the other hydrogen-bonded tautomer (see Scheme 2). Cases are known of symmetrical hydrogen bonds and therefore the concept of tautomerism and mesomerism can also be considered to merge in rare cases.





1.2 Types of Tautomerism

We will be considering in this account mainly prototropic tautomerism where a proton moves from one position in a molecule to another. However, several other types of tautomerism do exist: for example, certain substituted benzotriazoles are tautomeric between the 1-substituted and the 2-substituted benzotriazole forms,¹ anionotropy involving the allyl cation is well known,² and ring-chain tautomerism is well established³ (see Scheme 3).



1.3 Prototropic Tautomerism in Heterocyclic Chemistry

The first systematic reviews of this subject were published in 1963,⁴⁻⁷ and in 1976 one of the present authors, with others, presented a monograph⁸ which remains the definitive work on the subject. The purpose of the present overview is to place some of the recent advances, particularly the application of theoretical methods, into the context of the subject as a whole.

In heterocyclic chemistry, we distinguish between annular and side chain tautomerism. In the former, the atom or atomic group is exchanged between the ring carbon- or heteroatoms, whereas in the latter, the exchange takes place between a ring and a side-chain atom. Examples of both are shown in Scheme 4.

Scheme 4. Annular and Side-Chain Prototropic Tautomerism of Heteroaromatic Compounds



In this overview we shall concentrate on side-chain tautomerism. The important potentially tautomeric substituents which we will deal with are listed in Scheme 5

Scheme 5. Tautomeric Substituents

-OH, hydroxy		O, oxo	-CH ₃ , methyl $\overline{\Box}$:CH ₂ , methylene
-SH, thiol	<u> </u>	:S, thione	.NHX	:NX
-NH2, amino	<u> </u>	:NH, imino	.CHXY —	:CXY

1.4 The Importance of Tautomeric Equilibria in Chemistry

Reactivity and reactive mechanisms in heterocyclic chemistry can only be properly rationalized if the tautomeric structures of the compounds are known⁴ (Scheme 6) and there is some appreciation of the energy differences between the alternative tautomers.

Scheme 6. Importance of Tautomeric Equilibria

Amino Form of 2-Aminopyridine





Electrophiles should attack ring nitrogen

Tautomeric Imino Form



Electrophiles should attack exocyclic nitrogen

An example of the importance of this is shown in Scheme 7 where the reactions of 2-aminopyridine are considered.⁸ 2-Aminopyridine exists very predominantly in the amino-form shown, yet on reactions with electrophiles it can yield products of reaction either at the cyclic nitrogen, the acyclic nitrogen, or a ring carbon atom. Thus, methyl iodide gives the product of the reaction of the cyclic nitrogen, whereas acetic anhydride yields the product of reaction at the exocyclic nitrogen, and yet again nitric acid mixed with sulfuric acid yields the 5-nitro compound. However, all these reagents first react at the cyclic nitrogen as would be expected from the mesomeric contribution of the zwitterionic structure to the 2-amino form (see Scheme 6). In the case of methyl iodide, the reaction is irreversible and this determines the product. With acetic anhydride, the reaction is fast at the cyclic nitrogen but reversible, and a slower irreversible reaction takes place at the acyclic nitrogen. In the case of nitric acid (nitronium cation), reaction at both nitrogens is reversible, and in time, the kinetically third preferred, but thermodynamically most stable 2-amino-5-nitropyridine is formed via a rearrangement of the 2-nitroaminopyridine.



Clearly, any attempted rationalization of the reactivity of 2-aminopyridine in terms of the imino form would be most misleading. An early example of the consequences of neglecting tautomerism was the confusion between pyridinethiols and pyridinethiones. These were referred to as pyridinethiols "to follow Chemical Abtracts" and the acidity, alkylation and mechanism of oxidation of non existent thiol groups were described.⁹

1.5 Biological Importance of Heteroaromatic Tautomerism

It is well known that nucleic acid bases exist as double helixes in which the two strands are held together by the so-called base pairing. The tautomeric form of the nucleic acid bases is crucial to this base pairing as shown in Scheme $8.^{6,10-13}$



Moreover, tautomerism is of the highest biological importance because it usually determines the frequency of mutations.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ In its minor tautomeric form, uracil can act as a mimic of cytosine in the base pairing, and conversely, cytosine can act as a mimic of uracil as shown in Scheme 9.





2. Methods for the Study of Aromatic Tautomerism

2.1 Chemical Methods

Chemical arguments have often been used, although in many cases quite incorrectly. An early example of this applies to barbituric acid, as is shown in Scheme 10.

Scheme 10. Chemical Methods for the Investigation of Tautomerism



One set of authors¹⁷⁻¹⁹ argued for the hydroxyl structure for barbituric acid on the basis that it was a strong acid and it gave the methoxy derivative with diazomethane. Another set of authors²⁰ argued that the trioxo form was correct because of the condensation reaction of barbituric acid with aldehydes. All of this reasoning is completely incorrect. The correct relationship between acidity and tautomerism is shown in Scheme 11.⁸ If a pair of tautomers is in equilibrium with the same mesomeric anion, then the weaker acid of the two tautomers will always predominate, and indeed the tautomeric equilibrium constant will be equal to the quotient of the two dissociation constants. It is well known that diazomethane reacts with active hydrogen compounds by proton abstraction to give the methyldiazonium cation which then reacts with the anion. Similarly, the reaction with aldehydes is an aldol condensation which also goes through the anion. In each case, the anion is a mesomeric anion derived from both the OH and the CH forms, and the explanation for its reactivity with the methyldiazonium cation and in the aldol reaction can be rationalized by the "soft-hard" reagent rule.



2.2 Physical Methods for the Determination of Tautomeric Equilibrium

Many physical methods can be used to determine tautomeric equilibria. Spectroscopic methods include nmr for structural determination, dynamic nmr for equilibria involving C-H bond cleavage, infrared and Raman spectroscopy, ultraviolet/visible spectroscopy, ultraviolet photoelectron spectroscopy (PES), X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (ESCA), mass spectroscopy and ion cyclotron resonance spectroscopy.⁸ Non-spectroscopic methods include the determination of basicity (solution) or proton affinity (gas phase), dipole moment measurements in either gas phase or solution and X-ray, electron and neutron diffraction methods.

The application of physical methods to tautomeric equilibria can be divided into two main types: those that utilize "fixed derivatives" and those that do not. The concept of "fixed derivatives" is shown in Scheme 12.⁸ The methyl or other alkyl derivatives are non-tautomeric compounds of fixed structure and they act as models for the individual tautomers. When using fixed derivatives, the properties of the tautomeric compound are compared with the properties of the two models (or more, if necessary).



2.3 Investigation of Tautomeric Equilibrium in Solution

The use of nmr spectroscopy is of particular importance but can also be misleading if incautiously used. Individual tautomers can only be observed by nmr spectroscopy when the rate of interconversion is slow on the nmr time scale. As an approximate generalization, it can be stated that in solution, equilibria not involving CH bond cleavage (i.e. where the proton moves between oxygen, nitrogen or sulfur atoms) are fast on the nmr time scale at room temperature, whereas those equilibria which involve a proton moving to or from a carbon atom are normally slow (Scheme 13).

Most of the nmr investigations on tautomeric equilibria have been carried out on proton and carbon-13 spectra.²¹⁻²⁶ However, due to instrumental advances in recent years, nitrogen-15 nmr spectroscopy²⁷⁻³⁰ is now widely used for the study of heterocyclic tautomerism, along with nmr techniques using other magnetically active nuclei (¹⁷O, ¹⁴N etc.).





Tautomerism rapid: 4- and 5-positions show singlet signals in ¹H- (2H) and ¹³C-nmr in solution, even at low temperatures.



Tautomerism slower: distinct peaks shown for 4-position CH_2 and 4-position CH in the two isomers in both ¹H and ¹³C nmr.

As an example of the determination of a tautomeric equilibrium constant using ultraviolet spectroscopy, we take 3-methanesulfonamidopyridine.³¹ The structures are shown in Scheme 14 and the ultraviolet spectrum of the tautomeric compound and its two models are shown in Scheme 15. The spectrum of 3-methanesulfonamidopyridine resembles that of the exocyclic <u>N</u>-methyl derivative, but absorption does occur in the 325 nm region, and calculation indicates that 10% exists in the zwitterionic form in aqueous solution.

Scheme 14. Models for Ultraviolet Study of Tautomerism







 – Anhydro-3-methanesulphonamido-1-methylpyridinium hydroxide in N-NaOH

The same technique can be applied to the case of 4-pyridinethione.³² The structures are shown in Scheme 16 and the ultraviolet spectrum in Scheme 17. It is clear that 4-pyridinethione exists mainly in the thione form. However, in this case it is not possible to come to any quantitative estimate of the tautomerism constant because the observed differences between the 4-thione and 1-methyl-4-thione ultraviolet spectra could easily be accounted for by the replacement of a hydrogen atom with a methyl group.







This lack of quantitative information on tautomeric equilibria which are heavily biased towards one tautomer (by a ratio of greater than 10:1) is a serious limitation, and it applies to almost all the physical methods. The main way to overcome this experimentally is by use of the so-called basicity method⁸ which is illustrated for 4-pyridinethione in Scheme 18.³³ This method can be applied when compounds are available which form cations of similar structure to each other and to the common cation formed from the tautomers under consideration. In such a case, K_1' and K_2' are approximations to K_1 and K_2 , and because $K_T = K_1/K_2$, we can evaluate it as approximately equal to K_1'/K_2' . In the example under discussion, we conclude that K_T for 4-pyridinethione in aqueous solution is ca. 10⁴.

and (C) 4-Methylthiopyridine

2.4 Investigation of Tautomeric Equilibria in Gas Phase and in Inert Gas Matrices

Many physical methods can be applied in the gas phase; examples are the use of ir,^{34,35} uv,³⁵ and PE³⁶ spectroscopy, ionization potentials,³⁷ mass spectroscopy/isotope effects^{38,39} and proton affinities⁴⁰ for the case of pyridones and pyridinethiones.



An extension of the basicity method to the gas phase is possible by using proton affinities as illustrated in Scheme 19.40 The tautomeric equilibria can be determined by the difference in proton affinities of the methyl derivatives after taking into account the effect of <u>O</u>-methylation on the basicity.



Unfortunately, not enough is yet known about the differential effects of OMe, NMe, and SMe groups as compared to the non-methylated derivatives on gas phase proton affinities, which limits the accuracy of the method. A more recent application⁴¹ to some thio analogues of the nucleic acid base uracil is shown in Scheme 20, which displays the predominant gas phase tautomers for monothiouracil and its methyl derivatives.



The infrared spectroscopy of tautomeric heterocyclic compounds in inert gas (Ar or N_2) matrices has been widely applied for the qualitative and quantitative investigation of the prototropic equilibria of isolated molecules, particularly for the nucleic acid bases and their analogues.⁴²⁻⁴⁶ For example, cytosine is found as a 2 : 1 mixture of hydroxyamino- and oxoamino-forms in matrices, whereas in the solution or crystalline form, the latter tautomer strongly dominates.



2.5 Molecular Orbital Calculations of Tautomeric Equilibria

Many theoretical calculations on the prototropic equilibria of tautomeric heterocycles using quantum-chemical methods at both semi- and non-empirical levels have been published, and as time has progressed increasing accuracy has been attained. The earlier calculations gave results which are not comparable quantitatively to the answers derived from experimental data, and for these, we refer to the reviews.^{11,12,15}

Some of the most important work has been accomplished in the last decade.⁴⁷⁻⁶³ An extended basis set and account for electronic correlation energy is necessary for good results in ab initio calculations.⁶² However, AM1 and PM3 semiempirical parametrizations by Dewar⁶⁴ and Stewart,⁶⁵ respectively, seem to be satisfactory for the description of the tautomeric equilibria of isolated molecules.⁶⁶ It is of the greatest importance to account for the solvent effects in theoretical calculations of tautomeric equilibria.⁶⁷⁻⁷⁷ Frequently, there is little difference in the specific solvation (i.e. hydrogen bonding) energies of different tautomeric forms. However, the electronic distribution in the ring may be changed significantly from one tautomer to another, leading to large differences in non-specific polar solvation terms. Recently,⁷⁶ it was shown that a self-consistent reaction field molecular orbital (SCRF MO) theory^{78,79} in combination with Dewar's AM1 parametrization⁶⁴ gives a quantitative prediction of the tautomeric equilibrium constants in aqueous solution.



As an example, the equilibrium between 2-hydroxypyridine and 2-pyridone is illustrative, showing the quality of different quantum-chemical methods for the tautomeric equilibrium calculations.

Scheme 23. Tautomerism of 2-Hydroxypyridine vs. 2-Pyridone OH н 2-Hydroxypyridine Method 2-Pyridone favored by Kcal mol-1 favored by Kcal mol-1 15.4 STO-3G 80 MINDO/2⁸¹ 14.2 3.7 MINDO/3 80 1.7 3 - 21G⁸⁰ ••••• CNDO/2 82 11.3 1.2 MP2/6 - 31G* 80 AM1⁸³ 0.4 0.3 ± 2.5 exp. (gas phase) 35 AM1 (solution) 76 3.8 4.2 exp. (solution) 76

3. Tautomeric Equilibria of Pyridines

3.1 Structural and Environmental Effects

The experimental method discussed above has shown that in aqueous solution aminopyridines exist largely as such, but the 2- and 4-pyridones, and 2- and 4-thiopyridones exist, largely in the oxo or thiooxo forms,⁸ as shown in Scheme 24. 3-Hydroxypyridine is in equilibrium with an approximately equal amount of the zwitterion.





(All pK_T values refer to aqueous solutions)

The tautomeric equilibria of substituted pyridines in aqueous solution as shown in Scheme 24 is determined by the interplay of bond energies and the aromaticities of the molecules.

Scheme 25. Rationalization of Tautomerism of Pyridines



3.2 Effect of Substituents on the Tautomeric Equilibrium in Pyridines

The introduction of substituents, depending on both their nature and position, can either drastically affect the position of tautomeric equilibria, or have little influence. Thus, the effect of chlorine substitution on the tautomerism of 4-hydroxypyridine to 4-pyridone is shown in Scheme 26.⁸ Clearly, substitution of chlorines in the 3 or in both the 3 and 5 positions have little effect, but for substitution at the 2 and 6 positions, one chlorine makes the two forms almost of equal energy whereas double substitution causes the hydroxypyridine form to be strongly favoured.



(all K_T values refer to aqueous solution)

The quite different effects of the chlorine atom at the 2- and 3-positions can be easily understood by considering the common cation formed by both tautomers, and the effect of substituents on the relative acidity of the two protons. As shown in Scheme 27, whereas a substituent at either the 3 or 5 position is at a distance of three bonds from the NH and OH protons, substituents in the 2 and 6 positions are much closer to the NH than to the OH.⁸ This argument can be made quantitative, and indeed it is possible to derive an equation for the dependence of K_T on substitution. The relevant equations are given below.⁸⁴

Scheme 27. Effect of Additional C-Substituents on Tautomeric Pyridines



Loss of H from N: pK (substituted pyridine) = 5.25 - 5.90 σ_s Loss of H from O: pK (substituted pyridone) = 10.00 - 2.11 σ_s - 2.11 σ_z (Where σ_s refers to a substituent constant and σ_z to a heterogroup constant) 345

The application of this equation to common substituents is shown in Scheme 28,⁸⁴ where the logK_T values are predicted to fair precision.

Scheme 28. Effect of C-	Effect of C-Substituents on Tautomerism of 4-Pyridone			
Substituents	lo	g ₁₀ K _T		
<u></u>	calc	obs		
3-NH ₂	5.0	3.6		
3,5-Cl ₂	2.2	2.4		
2-Cl	-0.1	-0.3		
2,6-Me ₂	2.1	3.7		
$2,6-(CO_2Me)_2$	-1.4	-1.1		
3-NO ₂	1.8	3.4		
2,3,5-Cl ₃	-1.7	0.0		

Similarly, substituents in the methyl group of 4-methylpyridine can considerably influence the tautomeric equilibrium as illustrated in Scheme 29.^{85,86} Again, the rationalization follows from the relative effects of the substituent on the two alternative protons that can be lost from the common cation.

Scheme 29. Tautomerism of Picoline Derivatives



A different type of substituent influence is observed when intramolecular hydrogen bonding can stabilize one of the tautomers. Examples are shown in Scheme 30.^{87,88}



3.3 Effect of Environment

Moving away from water through non-polar solvents to the gas phase changes the tautomerism of pyridines significantly. This is because the importance and contribution of charged separated canonical forms to the stability of the molecule decreases as the dielectric constant of the medium decreases.⁸



Favored by high dielectric constant (Solid state normally same tautomeric form as aqueous solution.)

2-Chloro-4-pyridone exists in aqueous solution to the extent of 55% in the carbonyl form and 45% in the hydroxy form.⁸⁹ The effect of changing the solvent on its overall ultraviolet spectrum is shown in Scheme 32, clearly indicating a swing towards the hydroxy form as the dielectric constant decreases.



Effect of Solvents on the UV Spectrum of 2-Chloro-4-pyridone

Quantitative correlations exist. Thus, in Scheme 33, $\log K_T$ is plotted against Z values of solvent polarity for a number of pyridones⁹⁰ to give straight lines. Using this method, extrapolation of such lines leads to predictions that, for example, 4-pyridone, in non-polar cyclohexane, will exist predominantly in the 4-hydroxypyridine form (see Scheme 34).91

Scheme 32.





Predicted /Calculated pKT Values in Cyclohexane

pK _T 4-pyridone	-1.3	pK _T 4-quinolone	0.4
pK _T 2-pyridone	0.2	pK_T 2,6-di- <i>t</i> -butyl-4-pyridone	- 0.9

Uv Absorption Maxima and Intensities in Various Solvents				
	mμ	log e		
2-Pyridone (EtOH)	299	3.87		
2-Pyridone (C_6H_{12})	295	3.68		
4-Pyridone (MeOH)	256	4.15		
2,6-di-t-butyl-4-pyridone (MeOH)	258	4.17		
2,6-di-t-butyl-4-pyridone (C ₆ H ₁₂)	255	3.35		

This is supported by results on 2,6-di-t-butyl-4-pyridone which has the needed solubility in cyclohexane.



This is supported by results on 2,6-di-t-butyl-4-pyridone which has the needed solubility in cyclohexane.







4. Other Six-Membered Rings

4.1 Pyridine N- Oxides

The tautomeric equilibria of 4-hydroxypyridine <u>N</u>-oxide is illustrated in Scheme $37.^{92}$ The pKa value of the tautomeric compound in this case lies in between those of the two fixed derivatives, showing only that the tautomers are probably of almost equal energy. Uv-spectroscopic determination of the relative amounts fails as there is insufficient differentiation of the spectral maxima.



In the crystalline state, an almost symmetrical hydrogen bond exists, thus reducing the distinction between the two tautomers. The position for other <u>N</u>-oxides is summarized in Scheme $38.^{93}$



HETEROCYCLES, Vol. 32, No. 2, 1991

4.2 Tautomeric Diazines

In the case of a diazinone, there are at least two alternative NH forms. This is illustrated in Scheme 39 for pyrimidin -4-one which exists in aqueous solution to the extent of approximately 70% in the "amide form" and approximately 30% in the "vinylogous amide form", with only very little present in the hydroxy form. It is quite generally found that "amide forms" are usually more stable than "vinylogous amide forms", but the stability difference is not very large.⁸



"Amide" forms usually more stable than "vinylogous amide" forms.

The general pattern for tautomerism among diazines follows quite closely to that for pyridines. Thus, in aqueous solution, the potential hydroxy and mercapto compounds exist predominantly as diazinones and diazinethiones, whereas methyl- and amino-azines exist predominantly as such. Scheme 40 shows the predominant tautomer for each of a variety of common compounds.⁸



352

There are certain rare cases where this pattern is not followed. One of the causes of this is an aversion to dominant canonical forms containing NN double bonds. Thus, the aminotriazinone shown in Scheme 41 exists to a significant extent in the imino form.⁹⁴ Even more surprisingly, the ethyl derivative exists to quite some extent in the ethylidine form.⁹⁵ However, these are rare exceptions to the above generalizations.

Scheme 41. Tautomeric Triazinones in Solution

Effect of N=N-bonded forms:



4.3 Tautomerism of the Nucleic Acid Bases

As mentioned earlier in this review, the tautomerism of nucleic acid bases is of special importance, both because it determines the double helix structure of DNA, and because it is important for the so-called spontaneous mutations which are important in genetics and natural selection.

The dominant structure of the nucleic acid bases (i.e. oxo and amino forms exist) is not in dispute, and numerous physical methods are in agreement with this point (so-called exceptions have always been later disproved!). However, it is clearly of major importance to know quantitatively the extent to which minor tautomers can exist because of their importance in mutations. Clarification of this point has been very difficult and controversial. For example, for uracil it has long been clear that the dicarbonyl form is certainly the most stable, but the degree of its stability over the other structures has been much less well understood.

Recently, we have applied molecular orbital calculations using the AM1 method with a correction for the dielectric constant to clarify the tautomerism of uracil and cytosine. The results are shown for uracil in Scheme 42,⁶⁶ in which the calculated values are compared with the available experimental results. The simple-to-apply AM1 method clearly gives results for the isolated molecules in excellent agreement with our available data. This encourages confidence also in the aqueous solution values.







Similar data has been obtained for cytosine. Cytosine has a large number of possible tautomers: those which preserve the cyclic conjugation are shown in Scheme 43. It has been quite clear for a long time that the 1H-2-oxo-4-amino form (3) greatly predominates, and although various claims have been made to the contrary, they have all proved to be incorrect. For example, one of them based on nmr line-broadening, which purported to show that ΔH was only 1.1 calories, was really caused by paramagnetic ions.^{100,101}





Our calculated results for these equilibria are shown in Scheme 44. Once again, these results are overall in very good agreement with the best available *ab initio* methods in the vapor phase and with the experimental data for the solution phase.



5. Five-Membered Rings

5.1 Five Membered Rings with one Heteroatom

The tautomeric possibilities of five-membered rings with one heteroatom (as shown in Scheme 45) are different from those found in the pyridines and azines insofar as only one of the tautomers is aromatic.



Scheme 46 summarizes the position for tautomeric furans, thiophenes, and pyrroles with hydroxyl, mercapto or amino groups. In these compounds, for Y=O, non-aromatic forms are usually preferred. For Y=S, or NH, the aromatic form is favored but usually only very slightly. Also, tautomerism between two non-aromatic forms is always slow and individual tautomers can be isolated. It is of interest that mercapto compounds in these five-membered rings resemble the <u>N</u>-analogs, rather than the <u>O</u>-analogs as is found with the six-membered ring compounds. The reason for this can be understood by reference to Scheme 47.



5.2 Tautomerism in the Azoles

In the azoles, we also find that mercapto and amino derivatives usually exist as such. However, the pattern for the hydroxy compounds is more complex (Scheme 48). In the first place, both hydroxy and carbonyl tautomers can exist, and secondly, two alternative carbonyl tautomeric forms are frequently possible.

Scheme 48. Tautomerism of Hydroxyazoles Versus Azolinones with Adjacent Heteroatoms



These apply to Z = O, S, NR and also for thiadiazole, oxadiazoles and triazoles.

The situation for isoxazolin-5-one is summarized in Scheme $49.^8$ The 4H-oxo tautomer exists for the 4-unsubstituted derivatives in non-polar solvents and the solid state, and as the dominant tautomer in water. A substituent in the 4-position tips the equilibrium towards the 2H-4-oxo tautomer which now dominates in aqueous solution and the solid state, whereas in non-polar solvents, it is mainly in the 4H-form. Finally, a substituent in the 4-position which can hydrogen-bond with a 5-hydroxyl group can stabilize that tautomer.

Scheme 49.	Tautomerism of	of Isoxazolin	5-ones	<u>: Sum</u>	mary of Prec	lominant Forms
	R N N	R = Me, t-Bu, Ph, p-NO ₂ Ph, p-MeOPh CH in cyclohexane, CCl_4 , $CHCl_3$ and solid state ca. 3:1 CH:NH in H ₂ O				
	R N H	R'= Me, R = Ph, CH in cyc NH in H ₂	Br, t-Bu, clohexa O, solio	Br, Ph, ne, me	Br, p-MeOPh, ostly CH in (Br p-NO ₂ Ph CHCl ₃ .
	R	R = Me, I OH in cyc OH + NH NH in H ₂	Ph clohexa [in CH O and s	ne Cl ₃	state	

358

Much further work has been carried out, usually on a qualitative basis by spectroscopic comparisons with fixed derivatives, to elucidate the predominant tautomer present. We have recently carried out calculations⁷⁷ and compared the results with the experimental data. As is shown in Schemes 50-52, in all cases, the predominant form in aqueous solutions is predicted correctly. In the cases of 5-hydroxyoxazole and 5-hydroxyisoxazole, the oxo-form is predominant in chloroform; the dielectric constant of chloroform is much closer to that of a vacuum than to that of water.

Scheme 50. Tautomerism of Five-Membered Heterocycles

AM1 SCRF calculated relative energies of tautomers in Kcal mol⁻¹.

Experimentally observed are denoted by (+).

Solution refers to the highly polar medium of the dielectric constant of water (ϵ =80).

(a) Hydroxyoxazoles:

AM1 (gas)

AM1 (solution)

Experimental (solution)

	Со ^N ОН		
AM1 (gas)	13	0	
AM1 (solution)	23	0	
Experimental (solution)	-	(+)	

18



Η



(+)





23

8



AM1 (gas)	13	0	19
AM1 (solution)	28	17	0
Experimental (CHCl ₃)	-	(+)	-

Scheme 51. Tautomerism of Five-Membered Heterocycles

AM1 SCRF calculated relative energies of tautomers in Kcal mol⁻¹. Experimentally observed are denoted by (+).

Solution refers to the highly polar medium of the dielectric constant of water (ϵ =80).

(b) Hydroxyisoxazoles:



In summary this theoretical approach always predicts the correct tautomer in aqueous solution for hydroxy-(oxy-) substituted five-membered heterocycles with two ring heteroatoms.⁷⁷

Scheme 52. Tautomerism of Five-Membered Heterocycles

AM1 SCRF calculated relative energies of tautomers in Kcal mol⁻¹. Experimentally observed are denoted by (+).

Solution refers to the highly polar medium of the dielectric constant of water (ϵ =80).



There is also a substantial solvent-assisted increase in the dipole moments of the more polar tautomeric forms with zwitterionic resonance structures. This is reflected in significant changes in the geometry of those tautomers. As demonstrated in Scheme 53, the 2H-oxo form of 3-hydroxypyrazole has a C-O AM1 calculated bond length of = 1.237 Å, which is close to the standard value of a C=O double bond length (corresponding to the non-zwitterionic resonance form 1). However, the AM1 SCRF calculated C-O bond length in a medium with the relative permittivity of water ($\epsilon = 80$) is 1.307 which is now closer to the standard value for a C-O single bond. Thus, this bond length is more closely related to the zwitterionic resonance form 2.



5.3 Rationalization of Azole Tautomerism

The reasons for the different tautomeric patterns for the different azoles, and for the variation with environment, arise from the relative basicity of the nitrogen atom and also from the fact that the oxo derivatives with the carbonyl group conjugated with the nitrogen have large dipole moments and are more stable in polar media (cf. Scheme 54).⁷⁷



5.4 Tautomerism of Azoles - Apparent Exceptions to above Rules

aminoazoles An exception rule that exist as such claimed for apparent the was to 1-methyl-5-methylaminotetrazole which was stated to exist to the extent of approximately 1/3 in the imino form in aqueous solution.¹⁰⁵ The ¹H nmr spectrum of the compound is shown in Scheme 55.





However, it turned out that the equilibrium constant is probably 10^9 in favour of the amino form¹⁰⁶ - Scheme 56, and the incorrect conclusion was due to the appearance of a third band in the nmr spectrum caused by H/D exchange taking place in the D₂O contaminated DMSO-d₆ solvent.



Another example arises in the Reissert salt intermediates formed in the synthesis of aldehydes. These were claimed to exist in the imino form which is highly unlikely, the amino form being expected.¹⁰⁷



Scheme 57. Reissert Synthesis of Aldehydes

Once again, it could be proved conclusively¹⁰⁸ that the amino form was correct because of reconversion in water and in D_2O to the non-deuterated and deuterated cyano compound, respectively - Scheme 58.



Furthermore, comparison of the nmr spectra of the products of the reaction with both deuterated and non-deuterated trifluoroacetic acid showed no difference as would be expected from the amino form (see Scheme 59).

Scheme 59. Reissert Salts: Nmr Evidence of Structure



structures should show same nmr structures should show different nmr

6. Summary and Conclusions

Some generalizations that can be made regarding the tautomeric structure of substituted heterocycles are that NH_2 and CH_3 compounds exist as such with very few exceptions. Hydroxy/oxo compounds with the potential OH group α or γ to a cyclic nitrogen usually exist in the oxo form unless electron withdrawing substituents near the nitrogen, or nonpolar solvents, or substituents that can hydrogen bond with the OH group help stabilize the OH form. Thiol/thione compounds resemble OH derivatives in six membered rings and in azoles, but resemble NH_2 compounds in five membered rings with one heteroatom.

For molecular orbital calculations of tautomeric equilibrium constants, AM1 calculations give reliable results for isolated molecules in media of a low dielectic constant, whereas AM1 calculations with reaction field constants give good results for K_T in media of a high dielectric constant. Finally, for complex equilibria between many tautomers, and for strongly biased equilibria, these MO calculations often offer the only practical approach to a quantitative picture.

7. References

- 1. A. R. Katritzky and K. Yannakopoulou, Heterocycles, 1989, 28, 1121.
- 2. C. K. Ingold, 'Structure and Mechanism in Organic Chemistry', Cornell University Press, Ithaca and London, 1969.
- V. I. Minkin, L. P. Olekhnovich, and Yu. A. Zhdanov, 'Molecular Design of Tautomeric Compounds', Boston: D. Reidel Pub. Co., Dordrecht, 1988.
- A. R. Katritzky and J. M. Lagowski, 'Advances in Heterocyclic Chemistry: Prototropic Tautomerism of Heteroaromatic Compounds: I. General Discussion and Methods of Study', Vol. 1, ed. by A. R. Katritzky, Academic Press, Inc., London, 1963, pp. 311-338.

365

- A. R. Katritzky and J. M. Lagowski, 'Advances in Heterocyclic Chemistry: Prototropic Tautomerism of Heteroaromatic Compounds: II. Six-Membered Rings', Vol. 1, ed. by A. R. Katritzky, Academic Press, Inc., London, 1963, pp. 339-437.
- A. R. Katritzky and J. M. Lagowski, 'Advances in Heterocyclic Chemistry: Prototropic Tautomerism of Heteroaromatic Compounds: III. Five-Membered Rings and One Hetero Atom', Vol. 2, ed. by A. R. Katritzky, Academic Press, Inc., London, 1963, pp. 1-26.
- A. R. Katritzky and J. M. Lagowski, 'Advances in Heterocyclic Chemistry: Prototropic Tautomerism of Heteroaromatic Compounds: IV. Five Membered Rings with Two or More Hetero Atoms', Vol. 2, ed. by A. R. Katritzky, Academic Press, Inc., London, 1963, pp. 27-81.
- 8. J. Elguero, C. Marzin, A. R. Katritzky, and P. Linda, 'Advances in Heterocyclic Chemistry: The Tautomerism of Heterocycles', Supplement 1, ed. by A. R. Katritzky and A. J. Boulton, Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1976.
- H. L. Yale, 'Pyridine and Its Derivatives: Sulfur and Selenium Compounds of Pyridines', Part 4, ed. by E. Klingsberg, Interscience Publishers., New York, 1964, pp. 345-437.
- 10. P.-O. Lowdin, Adv. Quant. Chem., 1965, 2, 213.
- B. Pullman and A. Pullman, 'Advances in Heterocyclic Chemistry: Electronic Aspects of Purine Tautomerism', Vol. 13, ed. by A. R. Katritzky, Academic Press, Inc., London, 1971, pp. 77-159.
- J. S. Kwiatkowski and B. Pullman, 'Advances in Heterocyclic Chemistry: Tautomerism and Electronic Structure of Biological Pyrimidines', Vol. 18, ed. by A. R. Katritzky and A. J. Boulton, Academic Press, Inc., London, 1975, pp. 199-335.
- 13. J. S. Kwiatkowski, T. J. Zielinski, and R. Rein, Adv. Quant. Chem., 1986, 18, 85.
- 14. M. D. Topal and J. R. Fresco, Nature (London), 1976, 263, 285.
- R. Rein, 'Intermolecular Interactions: From Diatomics to Biopolymers', ed. by B. Pullman, Wiley-Interscience, New York, 1978, pp. 307-362.
- 16. J. Langlet, P. Claverie, F. Caron, and J. C. Boeuve, Int. J. Quantum Chem., 1981, 19, 299.
- 17. J. K. Wood and E. A. Anderson, J. Chem. Soc., 1909, 95, 979.
- 18. F. Arndt, Rev. Fac. Sci. Univ. Istanbul, 1936, 1, 1 (Chem. Abstr., 1937, 31, 1006³).
- 19. F. Arndt, Rev. Fac. Sci. Univ. Istanbul, 1944, 9A, 19 (Chem. Abstr., 1946, 40, 1787⁵).
- 20. R. Y. Levina and F. K. Velichko, Russ. Chem. Revs., 1960, 29, 437.
- 21. M. Schumacher and H. Gunther, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1982, 104, 4167.
- 22. I. Goljer, J. Svetlik, and I. Hrusovsky, Monatsch. Chem., 1983, 114, 65.

- 23. A. Schanck, J. M. Dereppe, and M. Van Meersche, Bull. Soc. Chim. Belg., 1983, 92, 199.
- 24. G. E. Wright, J. Heterocycl. Chem., 1983, 20, 1037.
- 25. R. Faure, E. J. Vincent, A. Rousseau, R. M. Claramunt, and J. Elguero, Can. J. Chem., 1988, 66, 1141.
- 26. J. V. Greenhill, M. J. Ismail, G. R. Bedford, P. N. Edwards, and P. J. Taylor, J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. II, 1985, 1265.
- 27. S. Tobias and H. Gunther, Tetrahedron Lett., 1982, 23, 4785.
- N. C. Gonnella, H. Nakanishi, J. B. Holtwick, D. S. Horowitz, K. Kanamori, N. J. Leonard, and J. D. Roberts, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1983, 105, 2050.
- 29. H. Fritz, Bull. Soc. Chim. Belg., 1984, 93, 559.
- 30. B. C. Chen, V. von Philipsborn, and K. Nagarajan, Helv. Chim. Acta, 1983, 66, 1537.
- 31. R. A. Jones and A. R. Katritzky, J. Chem. Soc., 1961, 378.
- 32. A. R. Katritzky, Chimica, 1970, 24, 134.
- 33. R. A. Jones and A. R. Katritzky, J. Chem. Soc., 1958, 3610.
- 34. E. S. Levin and G. N. Rodionova, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 1965, 164, 584.
- 35. P. Beak, F. S. Fry, J. Lee, and F. Steele, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1976, 98, 171.
- 36. M. J. Cook, S. El-Abbady, A. R. Katritzky, C. Guimon, and G. Pfister-Guillouzo, J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. II, 1977, 1652.
- 37. T. Gronneberg and K. Undheim, Org. Mass Spectrom., 1972, 6, 823.
- 38. A. Maquestiau, Y. van Haverbeke, C. de Meyer, A. R. Katritzky, M. J. Cook, and A. D. Page, Can. J. Chem., 1975, 53, 490.
- A. Maquestiau, Y. van. Haverbeke, C. de Meyer, A. R. Katritzky, and J. Frank, Bull. Soc. Chim. Belg., 1975, 84, 465.
- 40. M. J. Cook, A. R. Katritzky, M. Taagepera, T. D. Singh, and R. W. Taft, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1976, 98, 6048.
- 41. A. R. Katritzky, M. Szafran, and G. Pfister-Guillouzo, J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. II, 1990, 871.
- 42. S. Chin, I. Scott, K. Szczepaniak, and W. B. Person, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1984, 106, 3415.
- 43. M. Maltese, S. Passerini, S. Nunziante-Cesaro, S. Dobos, and L. Harsanyi, J. Mol. Struct., 1984, 116, 49.
- 44. L. F. Sukhodub, Chem. Rev., 1987, 87, 589.
- 45. M. Szczesniak, K. Szczepaniak, J. S. Kwiatkowski, K. KuBulat, and W. B. Person, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1988, 110, 8319.
- 46. R. Czerminski, J. S. Kwiatkowski, W. B. Person, and K. Szczepaniak, J. Mol. Struct., 1989, 198, 297.

- 47. A. Les and I. Ortega-Blake, Int. J. Quantum Chem., 1981, 19, 719.
- 48. J. Mirek and A. Sygula, THEOCHEM, 1981, 86, 85.
- 49. T. J. Zielinski, Int. J. Quantum Chem., 1982, 22, 639.
- 50. H. B. Schlegel, P. Gund, and E. M. Fluder, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1982, 104, 5347.
- 51. M. J. Scanlan, I. H. Hillier, and A. A. MacDowell, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1983, 105, 3568.
- 52. A. Buda and A. Sygula, THEOCHEM, 1983, 92, 255.
- 53. A. Sygula and A. Buda, THEOCHEM, 1983, 92, 267.
- 54. M. J. Scanlan and I. H. Hillier, J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun., 1984, 102.
- 55. M. J. Scanlan and I. H. Hillier, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1984, 106, 3737.
- 56. M. Kuzuya, A. Noguchi, and T. Okuda, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn, 1984, 57, 3454.
- 57. E. Fos, J. Vilarrasa, and J. Fernandez, J. Org. Chem., 1985, 50, 4894.
- 58. R. H. Abu-Eittah, M. M. Harned, A. Nigm, and A. El-Azhary, Int. J. Quantum Chem., 1985, 28, 731.
- 59. K. Szczepaniak, M. Szezesniak, and W. B. Person, Int. J. Quantum Chem., 1986, S13, 287.
- 60. M. Norinder, THEOCHEM, 1987, 151, 259.
- 61. M. H. Palmer and A. J. Beveridge, Chem. Phys., 1987, 111, 249.
- 62. J. S. Kwiatkowski, R. J. Bartlett, and W. B. Person, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1988, 110, 2353.
- 63. A. Les and L. Adamowicz, J. Phys. Chem., 1989, 93, 7078.
- 64. M. J. S. Dewar, E. G. Zoebisch, E. F. Healy, and J. J. P. Stewart, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1985, 107, 3902.
- 65. J. J. P. Stewart, J. Comput. Chem., 1989, 10, 209.
- 66. A. R. Katritzky and M. Karelson, J. Am. Chem. Soc., in press.
- 67. J. S. Kwiatkowski and B. Szczodrowska, Chem. Phys., 1978, 27, 389.
- 68. A. Pullman and D. Perahia, Theor. Chim. Acta, 1978, 48, 29.
- 69. H. J. Hofmann, G. Peinel, C. Krebs, and C. Weiss, Int. J. Quantum Chem, 1981, 20, 785.
- 70. G. LaManna and E. Venuti, J. Comput. Chem., 1982, 3, 593.
- 71. C. Bartzsch, H. J. Hofmann, and C. Weiss, Stud. Biophys., 1983, 93, 197.
- 72. C. Bartzsch, C. Weiss, and H. J. Hofmann, J. Prakt. Chem., 1984, 324, 407.
- 73. J. A. Sordo, M. Klobukowski, and S. Fraga, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1985, 107, 7569.
- 74. P. Cieplak and M. Geller, THEOCHEM, 1985, 124, 249.
- 75. P. Cieplak, P. Bash, U. C. Singh, and P. A. Kollman, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1987, 109, 6283.
- 76. M. M. Karelson, A. R. Katritzky, M. Szafran, and M. C. Zerner, J. Org. Chem., 1989, 54, 6030.
- 77. M. M. Karelson, A.R. Katritzky, M. Szafran, and M.C. Zerner, J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. II, 1990, 195.

- 78. O. Tapia and O. Goscinski, Mol. Phys., 1975, 29, 1653.
- 79. M. Karelson, Org. React. (Tartu), 1980, 17, 357.
- 80. H. B. Schlegel, P. Gund, and E. M. Fluder, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1982, 104, 5347.
- 81. H. G. Benson and J. N. Murrell, J. Chem. Soc., Faraday Trans. II, 1972, 129.
- 82. M. Berndt, J. S. Kwiatkowski, J. Budzinski, and B. Szczodrowska, Chem. Phys. Lett., 1973, 19, 246.
- 83. A. R. Katritzky, M. Szafran, and J. Stevens, THEOCHEM, 1989, 184, 179.
- 84. A. Gordon, A. R. Katritzky, and S. K. Roy, J. Chem. Soc. B, 1968, 556.
- 85. S. Golding, A. R. Katritzky, and H. Z. Kucharska, J. Chem. Soc., 1965, 3090.
- 86. A. R. Katritzky, H. Z. Kucharska, and J. D. Rowe, J. Chem. Soc., 1965, 3093.
- 87. R. Haller, Tetrahedron Lett., 1965, 3175.
- 88. G. P. Bean, M. J. Cook, T. M. Dand, A. R. Katritzky, and J. R. Lea, J. Chem. Soc. B, 1971, 2339.
- 89. A. R. Katritzky, J. D. Rowe, and S. K. Roy, J. Chem. Soc. B, 1967, 758.
- 90. A. Gordon and A. R. Katritzky, Tetrahedron Lett., 1968, 2767.
- 91. J. Frank and A. R. Katritzky, J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. II, 1976, 1428.
- 92. J. N. Gardner and A. R. Katritzky, J. Chem. Soc., 1957, 4375.
- 93. A. R. Katritzky and R. A. Jones, J. Chem. Soc., 1960, 2947.
- 94. J. Gut, J. Jonas, and J. Pitha, Coll. Czech. Chem. Commun., 1964, 29, 1394.
- 95. W. W. Paudler and J. Lee, J. Org. Chem., 1971, 36, 3921.
- 96. P. Beak and M. White, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1982, 104, 7073.
- 97. Y. Tsuchiya, T. Tamura, M. Fujii, and M. Ito, J. Phys. Chem., 1988, 92, 1760.
- 98. A. Les, L. Adamowicz, and R. J. Bartlett, J. Phys. Chem., 1989, 93, 4001.
- 99. A. R. Katritzky and A. J. Waring, J. Chem. Soc., 1962, 1540.
- 100. G. C. Y. Lee, J. H. Prestegard, and S. I. Chan, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1972, 94, 951.
- 101. D. I. Schuster and K. V. Prabhu, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1974, 96, 3511.
- 102. R. D. Brown, P. D. Godfrey, D. McNaughton, and A. P. Pierlot, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1989, 111, 2308.
- 103. A. R. Katritzky and A. J. Waring, J. Chem. Soc., 1963, 3046.
- 104. M. Dreyfus, O. Bensaude, G. Dodin, and J. E. Dubois, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1976, 98, 6338.
- 105. R. N. Butler, J. Chem. Soc. B, 1970, 138.
- 106. G. Bianchi, A. J. Boulton, I. J. Flecher, and A. R. Katritzky, J. Chem. Soc. B, 1971, 2355.
- 107. W. E. McEwen, M.A. Calabro, I. C. Mineo, and I. C. Wang, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1973, 95, 2392.
- 108. M. J. Cook, A. R. Katritzky, and A. D. Page, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1977, 99, 165.